Page _______
February 23, 2021


CHRISTIANSBURG TOWN COUNCIL 
CHRISTIANSBURG, MONTGOMERY CO., VA.
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
FEBRUARY 23, 2021 – 7:00 P.M.

A REGULAR MEETING OF THE CHRISTIANSBURG TOWN COUNCIL, MONTGOMERY COUNTY, CHRISTIANSBURG, VA. WAS HELD AT CHRISTIANSBURG TOWN HALL, 100 EAST MAIN STREET, CHRISTIANSBURG, VIRGINIA, ON FEBRUARY 23, 2021 AT 7:00 P.M.

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor D. Michael Barber; Vice-Mayor Samuel M. Bishop; Johana Hicks; Steve Huppert; Merissa Sachs; Henry Showalter; Bradford J. Stipes.  ABSENT: None.
  
ADMINISTRATION PRESENT:  Town Manager Randy Wingfield; Assistant Town Manager Andrew Warren, Town Attorney Reid Broughton; Clerk of Council Tracy Heinline; Finance Director Valerie Tweedie; Police Chief Mark Sisson.

REGULAR MEETING

I. CALL TO ORDER
A.  Moment of Reflection
B.  Pledge of Allegiance 


II.  ADJUSTMENT OF THE AGENDA
Councilwoman Hicks requested to separate the bill list item for $152,000 labeled final design and permitting regional park from the other bills in order to vote separately. Councilman Stipes requested to postpone the Discussion of Code of Ethics under item VIII until the next Town Council meeting. Town Manager Wingfield referred to item B under Introductions and Presentations and informed Council that Program Manager Derrick Mays from the Virginia Department of Criminal Justice would not be attending but would reschedule. Councilwoman Hicks suggested Council move forward and dismiss the discussion of Code of Ethics item and expressed this item had been on the agenda numerous times. Councilman Huppert and Councilman Bishop agreed with Mrs. Hicks.

Councilwoman Hicks made a motion to separate the park item on the monthly bill list from the other bill list items. Councilman Showalter seconded the motion and Council voted as follows:  Bishop – Aye; Hicks – Aye; Huppert – Aye; Sachs – Aye; Showalter – Aye; Stipes – Aye.

Councilman Stipes made a motion to remove the discussion of Code of Ethics item from the agenda and postpone it until the next Town Council meeting. Councilwoman Sachs seconded the motion and Council voted as follows: Bishop – Nay; Hicks – Nay; Huppert – Nay; Sachs – Aye; Showalter – Aye; Stipes – Aye. Noting a tie, Mayor Barber voted Nay, leaving the Code of Ethics item on the agenda for discussion.



III.  PUBLIC HEARINGS
A. Request to: (a) vacate the right-of-way; and (b) authorize the conveyance from the Town to the Montgomery County School Board for the Christiansburg High School “bus loop” at 100 Independence Boulevard, N.W. (tax parcel 466 - ((2)) - 11A) (~.954 acres).
John Neel, Engineer with Gay and Neel, Inc. reported to Council on behalf of Montgomery County Public Schools. Mr. Neel referenced a map showing the bus loop coming through the main entrance of the Christiansburg High School onto Independence Blvd. He explained there were three parcels plus the right-of-way that made up the campus and showed the option for one large parcel for the high school. Mr. Neel explained that about 60% of the property was zoned industrial I-2 and the other 40% was zoned B-3. Councilman Bishop questioned who maintained the right-of-way at the current time. Mr. Neel explained that in the past the Town and/or VDOT had maintained the right-of-way and mentioned that if the Town vacated the right-of-way the school would manage it. Councilman Stipes explained the Town had a 30-foot setback from the right-of-way and the school would be able to make improvements without setbacks and restrictions. Mr. Neel expressed that at this time they did not have an exact timeline due to the cleaning up of the property but would move forward in the near future. Councilwoman Hicks stated that she believed this item was clearly needed and expressed that with the kids going back to school full time in the next couple weeks she thought a vote would be appropriate at this time. Councilman Bishop and Councilman Showalter explained that two weeks would not make a difference for the school and it was customary for Council to wait two weeks to vote and they should remain consistent in that regard. 
B. Rezoning request by Gay and Neel, Inc. (applicant), for an approximately 1.38 acre property owned by Depot Street Development LLC, located at the intersection of Depot Street, N.E. and Harless Street, N.E. (tax parcels 497 - ((A)) - 288, 497 - ((A)) - 288A, 497 - ((A)) - 288C, 497 - ((A)) - 285, 497 - ((A)) - 286, 497 - ((13)) - 3, and 497 - ((13)) - 1E). The request is to rezone the property from B-3, General Business to R-3, Multi-Family Residential with proffers. The property is designated as Residential on the Future Land Use Map of the 2013 Christiansburg Comprehensive Plan.
John Neel, Engineer with Gay and Neel, Inc. explained to Council the rezoning request was to correct the zoning issue on Depot Street, specifically changing the property from a B-3, General Business to R-3, Multi-Family Residential. Mr. Neel noted the areas were zoned business at this current time but explained the area was residential in nature. He referenced a map that explained to Council where the rezoning would take place and noted the vision at one time was for a commercial corridor along Depot Street and Harless Street. 
Jessie Eaves stated she attends Greater Mount Zion United Holiness Church located near the Depot Street property and questioned how many units would be built on this property and expressed concerns about parking. She explained the parking at the church was currently difficult and when the Aquatic Center hosted events, people used the church parking lot for overflow parking. Ms. Eaves also inquired on the timeline for the development. Mr. Neel explained that parking would be in accordance with what was required by the Town and the developer could start construction hopefully in late summer or early fall if approved. He also explained there could be no more than 13 homes and those homes would be required to have sufficient off-street parking. Councilman Showalter questioned if there would be any notification for the neighbors when development started.  Town Manager Wingfield replied that residential use on the property was by-right and there would be no requirement to give notification to the neighbors, though a site plan would be required. Councilwoman Hicks inquired if any traffic studies had been performed on the property, which were not required.  Councilwoman Hicks expressed concern for citizens being able to cross the street safely and noted the current sidewalks in that area needed attention and would like to see improvements.
C. Two Conditional Use Permit requests by Balzer & Associates, Inc., on behalf of SHAH Development, LLC (applicant/owner), for a 3.2-acre parcel located at 1145 W. Main Street (tax parcel 556 - ((A)) - 39) in the B-3, General Business District:

1. A conditional use permit request for residential uses as permitted in the R-3, Multi-Family Residential District. Residential uses as permitted in the R-3, Multi-Family Residential District include single-family dwellings, two-family dwellings, townhouses, and multiple-family dwellings at a density of development of up to 20 units per acre.
1. A conditional use permit request for a proposed Planned Housing Development to consist of single-family, two-family, and multiple-family dwellings at a density of development not to exceed 7.8 units per acre.
The property is partially designated as Business/Commercial and partially designated as Residential on the Future Land Use Map of the 2013 Christiansburg Comprehensive Plan.

Steve Semones Executive Vice President for Balzer and Associates referenced slides that showed the location of the area being requested for the 3.2-acre parcel. Mr. Semones explained to Council that this request would allow single-family homes on this parcel while limiting the density of the homes to fit in the area. Mr. Semones explained the second CUP was for a planned housing development within the B-3 District, which would allow development of a variety of housing types – single-family units, duplex units, and townhomes. He noted that with the B-3 District, they could build up to 20 units per acre but would only develop half to fit appropriately on the property. He also mentioned that along W. Main Street there could be future businesses on the parcel which would give them flexibility to build. He explained that the proposed access would be off College Street instead of W. Main Street to help with any traffic impacts. Mr. Semones explained they were aware of the ongoing stormwater study and would work with the consultant for the best way to begin development. Councilwoman Hicks questioned if a traffic study had been performed in that area. Mr. Semones explained a traffic study had not been conducted but a trip study had, and the result of that study confirmed a low threshold of traffic. Councilwoman Hicks commented that College Street was used as a cut through area to get to the middle school. She expressed that several College Street residents were focused on the stormwater study and she thought it would be better to wait and asked if the stormwater study was considered when planning this development. Mr. Semones replied that if approved there would be a maximum of 32 homes built and from a timing standpoint, they would still have to decide what type of product to pursue, which means development would not start for at least 8 months. He also explained that as a B-3 zoning district, any of the by right uses could be built with just site plan approval but they would like to meet stormwater regulations. Town Manager Wingfield explained that the College Street basin study expected in April would be a general basin study and the Town would select alternatives to pursue, which could include channel improvements, piping, upstream stormwater ponds or a combination of those.  Mr. Wingfield stated that detailed designs would need to be done based on the selected alternatives for construction and stated that the Town would like to seek grants for the construction. Mayor Barber referenced the map of the proposed development and questioned if there was a way to have ingress and egress not only on College Street but also W. Main Street. Mr. Semones replied that the development was not proposed that way but if Council would see that as being beneficial then it could be adjusted. Councilman Stipes mentioned preserving the capacity of W. Main Street is important and would not like to see another entrance on W. Main Street.

Henry Nixon, 890 College Street had several concerns and questions about the development on W. Main Street. He inquired if the Town would take care of the flood problems on College Street before this new project began. Mr. Nixon explained he had lived 87 years in that area and the flooding seemed to get worse every year. He encouraged Town Council to investigate this potential development before moving forward.

Fred Umberger, 915 College Street addressed Council and said he had lived on College Street since 1986 and that the apartment complex offered looked nice but did not believe the time was right to start this project. He explained that water ran through the property constantly and when it rained heavily that water was destructive. Mr. Umberger referenced the last heavy rainstorm that came through the area and mentioned the flooding and unfortunate death of a family dog in the neighborhood. He also expressed that he knew the Town was working on the water issue but encouraged the developer to wait to develop until the flooding issue could be addressed and for Council to require that all plans be finalized with the developer before anything was started.

Beth Umberger, 915 College Street explained to Council she had constant water in her basement when she first moved into the residence. She explained that when there were homes developed above them in the past the water and flooding became worse for their property. Mrs. Umberger also mentioned the holding pond at the middle school did not actually hold the rainwater but that the water was gushing through the storm drain during the last big rainstorm. She also expressed to Council that she hoped they would wait and make sure the water issue was solved before building anything else. Councilman Stipes mentioned that recently the stormwater detention requirements had changed and had become more stringent, so any development that went in had to meet these standards.


IV.  CONSENT AGENDA
A. Approval of Minutes of February 9, 2021.

Councilwoman Sachs made a motion to approve the minutes of February 9, 2021. Councilman Stipes seconded the motion and Council voted as follows:  Bishop – Aye; Hicks – Aye; Huppert – Aye; Sachs – Aye; Showalter – Aye; Stipes – Aye.

B. Monthly Bill List.
Councilwoman Hicks referenced the item on the bill list specifically for the final design of the park and questioned the amount of $152,000. Mr. Wingfield explained that this amount was for the final park agreement of the design and the construction of the park. Mr. Wingfield explained the interim agreement was for 80% design of the park and the final agreement includes getting the park to 100% design and construction of the park.

Councilwoman Hicks made a motion to vote for the approval of the final design of the park as stated on the monthly bill list in the amount of $152,000. Councilman Huppert seconded the motion and Council voted as follows:  Bishop – Aye; Hicks – Nay; Huppert – Aye; Sachs – Aye; Showalter – Aye; Stipes – Aye.

Councilman Showalter made a motion to approve the monthly bill list. Councilwoman Sachs seconded the motion and Council voted as follows:  Bishop – Aye; Hicks – Aye; Huppert – Aye; Sachs – Aye; Showalter – Aye; Stipes – Aye.


V.   INTRODUCTIONS AND PRESENTATIONS
A. Program Manager Derrick Mays from the Virginia Department of Criminal Justice Services to present the Police Department’s recertification document for accreditation.

Mr. Derrick Mays was unable to attend the Town Council meeting.

B. New River Community College Educational Foundation Executive Director Angie Covey to present on the Access to Community College Education (ACCE) program.

Executive Director Angie Covey expressed thanks to Police Chief Sisson for the continued support with the Books and Badges program that had evolved into the ACCE program, a program that makes college available debt-free to high school and home-schooled graduates by funding NRCC tuition for two years. Ms. Covey expressed to Council that this year had been a very challenging period for students, especially the college students. But through the support of the community and Town Council the students had succeeded in the past year.  Ms. Covey introduced students that currently participate in the ACCE program and mentioned the students could provide better insight on the program and how it has positively affected their own lives. 

Zamora White explained she was currently completing her last year with the ACCE program. She expressed to Council that her family had moved to Virginia after hurricane Katrina and had lived in and out of hotels, sometimes having to sleep in their car. Ms. White explained that before finding out about the ACCE program her family would have never thought college was an option. Ms. White also expressed the feeling of giving back to the community that goes with the program and stated she had started her own haircare line and would be able to fulfill her dream of becoming a small-business owner.

Zach Blevins, 240 Virginia Drive, expressed thanks to Council for investing in his future by contributing to the ACCE program. He explained he would be graduating in May with an associate degree in nursing and then would attend Old Dominion College. He spoke of his need to give back to the community and improve the lives of his patients. He expressed that not only had the program allowed him to reach all his goals but that many other students had benefited greatly as well. Mr. Blevins explained he had been taught the value of community and giving back through this process and, among other volunteer opportunities, he had helped with local facilities with prescreening for Covid. Mr. Blevins concluded that he would be interviewing soon for an RN position at Lewis Gale Hospital Montgomery.

Jessica Valero, a sophomore at New River Community College stated she would be transferring to Radford next semester after benefiting from the ACCE program.  Ms. Valero explained that her family had moved to the United States from Columbia when she was 12 years old and how difficult it had been for her and her family. She also explained that her parents had always worked hard and hoped for a good education for their children. Ms. Valero explained her main goal had always been to graduate because no one in her family had ever attended college and the ACCE program was helping her achieve that goal.

Angie Covey informed Council there was a total of 187 Montgomery County students in the ACCE program and that 70 of those students were from Christiansburg High School. She also noted that most students attend both years at New River Community College. Ms. Covey also explained that most students were participating in dual enrollment classes, which allows a student to be enrolled in two academic institutions at once, so when the students graduate high school, they would only need one year at NRCC. Councilman Stipes expressed that these students were paying it forward by attending Town Council and relaying their stories.

C. Montgomery-Floyd Regional Library Director Karim Khan to present on library operations.

Mr. Karim Khan thanked Council for the library wayfinding signage on Depot Street, directing the public to the library, and spoke about how the library had been affected by Covid in the last year. Mr. Khan reported there had been a decrease in attendance at the programs the library provided and that patron visits were down due to the pandemic. He explained the library had increased outdoor seating, improved school-age seating and installed children’s computer and group worktables. He also explained the library had created an online signup for new library cards with instant access to electronic resources and item request capability. Mr. Khan mentioned there had been kiosks installed at the library so people could input their customer satisfaction. He also spoke about outreach programs such as Linden Green Apartments, Boys and Girls Club at the middle school and Galaxy Play Adventure Club. Mr. Kahn touched on the Senior Connections with craft kits and book delivery to stay in touch with seniors in the community. He reported that when the library was confronted with Covid, the library developed a curbside pickup service for patrons to pick up requested material. Mr. Khan expressed hope that looking forward the library could establish ongoing periodic outreach in communities not currently served directly by a library branch. Mr. Khan concluded that a new library mobile unit had been purchased and would go around the community 4 days a week to at-risk areas and senior congregate areas. Councilman Huppert expressed he has used the curbside pick-up at the library and thought it was a great program. Councilwoman Hicks commended the library and the programs they had provided and expressed the mobile unit would be an asset to the community.
   
	
VI.   CITIZEN COMMENTS 

Chris Waltz, 1370 Rigby Street, referenced the two items under Discussion and Action by Mayor and Council and expressed that Council needed to follow the Code of Ethics and not be concerned about profanity from citizens noting that a member on Council had used profanity at the previous meeting. Mr. Waltz also referenced his past FOIA requests and urged the Town Attorney to aide Council to look up the definition of ethics.

Matt Hicks, 607 ½ S. Franklin Street expressed his pleasure that the College Street investigation was finalized and still felt it had been a waste of taxpayer funds. He reminded Council he was the leasing agent and sole owner of Summit Ridge Realty, LLC and he felt Councilwoman Hicks had been dragged into the issue because she was his spouse. Mr. Hicks concluded that there had been no charges brought against him and he felt that multiple letters and correspondence had thoroughly answered all of Council’s questions. Mr. Hicks urged Council to move forward and focus on the needs of the citizens of Christiansburg.

Kent Griffith, 715 Church Street, had concerns about the current hours at the Aquatic Center explaining that it was difficult for citizens that worked late to be able to swim. He also expressed concern for the ongoing swim meets and the Aquatic Center being closed Thursday through Sunday. Mr. Griffith also complained to Council that he felt it unfair that Christiansburg citizens had to pay to use the Aquatic Center. He suggested that the Town increase the hours of the Aquatic Center to allow early morning and late evening swimming to accommodate working citizens. Councilman Huppert explained that on Tuesdays and Thursdays the Aquatic Center is open from 8:00 am to 7:00 pm and that the pool used to be open from 6:30 am until 8:00 pm pre-Covid. Mr. Huppert explained that because of the swim meets the economy gets a tremendous boost which helps everyone in the long run. Councilwoman Hicks asked Town Manager Wingfield to investigate the facility’s hours and report back to Council. She expressed hope that there could be a change of hours for the working citizens of Christiansburg. Councilman Showalter and Mayor Barber both urged Mr. Wingfield to check with Aquatics Director Terry Caldwell and see if they can increase hours.

An additional citizen comment was received via email and was recorded in the final minute book for reference.
	 

VII.	COMMITTEE REPORTS  
	Councilman Stipes
	No report.

	Councilman Showalter
	No report.

	Councilman Huppert
	No report.
	
	Councilman Bishop 
	No report.

	Councilwoman Sachs
	No report.

	Councilwoman Hicks questioned if Town Manager Wingfield had talked to Public Works about a clean-up for the recent ice storms. Councilman Showalter expressed that Public Works currently provides clean-up monthly and they perform the pickup in quadrants. He also explained there is a section on the Town’s website where citizens can contact the Town for a special pickup. Mayor Barber added that information pertaining to clean-up is posted in the water bills as well. Mrs. Hicks noted that she thought the citizens needed more direction on how to access the Town for special pick-ups.


VIII.   DISCUSSION AND ACTION BY MAYOR AND COUNCIL
A. Discussion of Resolution to Establish a Policy for Public Comment.
Mayor Barber noted that the Resolution to Establish a Policy for Public Comment was discussed at the last Council meeting and mentioned the resolution was not limiting speech or dress code for citizens and would accept a motion from Council to approve said resolution.
Hearing no motion from Council, the Resolution to Establish a Policy for Public Comment was not acted upon.

B. Discussion of Code of Ethics. 
Councilman Bishop expressed his desire to close the discussion of Code of Ethics in relation to the College Street and Roanoke Street properties. Mr. Bishop explained remarks had been heard from Town management and the Town Attorneys and he did not feel the item should be discussed any further. Mayor Barber informed the public that complaints had been made to Council by citizens concerning College Street and Roanoke Street properties and the town had spent close to $6,000 investigating those properties. Mr. Barber agreed the item should be dropped from any further discussion.

Councilman Bishop made a motion to close the discussion of Code of Ethics. Councilwoman Hicks seconded the motion and Council voted as follows:  Bishop – Aye; Hicks – Aye; Huppert – Aye; Sachs – Aye; Showalter – Aye; Stipes – Aye.


IX. 	STAFF REPORTS
A. Town Manager
Mr. Wingfield reported he would like to schedule public hearings for the meeting on March 9, 2021 for conveyances of property and easements regarding the connector route with the Miller and Dadras properties. A public hearing for conservation and stormwater management easements to be dedicated on the Diamond Hills Park, the former Wades landfill property located on Wades Lane and the signature park itself.
	
B. Town Attorney
No report.

C. Other Staff
Mayor Barber questioned Chief Sisson on the amount of tickets the Police Department had written for cellphone usage while driving. Chief Sisson answered that he would report back to Council on the number.



X.	COUNCIL REPORTS
Councilman Showalter requested Council explore the idea of time limits for Council members during Discussion by Mayor and Town Council since citizens currently have time limits when they speak during the Citizen Comments portion of the meeting. Mr. Showalter mentioned that under Discussion and Action by Mayor and Town Council, once an item for discussion has been brought to the table, Council should be allotted three minutes to speak and then the item should be opened to the floor for further discussion. He noted that not all of Council had an opportunity to speak during discussions and maybe this would limit interruptions as well.  Councilman Showalter also expressed that he did not 	think an item should be brought up during the Council Reports, referring to the discussion concerning gun control at the last Council meeting. Councilman Bishop requested that if this was a discussion that would not be voted on now then he would like to see this brought up under Discussion and Action by Mayor and Town Council at the next meeting. Councilwoman Hicks expressed that she did not think it was right to limit Council discussion and hoped they could just respect each other’s time instead. She also mentioned she liked to ask questions during the meetings and wanted to be thorough and not have a time limit. Councilman Showalter explained he did not want to limit Council and expressed he would like to see uninterrupted time for each Council member. Mayor Barber requested that Council consider Councilman Showalter’s request to limit discussion and Council could discuss at a future Council meeting.

	Councilman Huppert reported that it looked like the rail system had received support from the 	legislative system and it looked promising for rail traffic to come through Christiansburg. Mr. 	Huppert also announced that he will not run for re-election for the next Council term. 
	
	Councilwoman Sachs
	No report.
	
	Councilwoman Hicks
	No report.

	Councilman Bishop
	No report.

	Councilman Stipes
	No report.
	

  XI.	OTHER BUSINESS


XII.	ADJOURNMENT
	There being no further business to bring before Council, Mayor Barber adjourned the meeting at    9:05PM.



__________________________			____________________________
Tracy Heinline, Clerk of Council			D. Michael Barber, Mayor
